THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JAN 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2016-001440

Carolina Chloride, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation,Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

CHRISTIAN STEGMAIER
cstegmaier@collinsandlacy.com
KELSEY J. BRUDVIG
COLLINS & LACY, P.C.
kbrudvig@collinsandlacy.com
Post Office Box 12487
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-2660 (voice)
(803) 771-4484 (facsimile)

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court improperly held that Carolina Chloride's property did not abut Farrow Road.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding Carolina Chloride failed to exhaust its administrative remedies.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Carolina Chloride, Inc. (“Carolina Chloride”) commenced the instant action against Respondent South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”) to recover just compensation for the taking of its vested property right. (R. p. 41). Carolina Chloride’s inverse condemnation claim arises from SCDOT’s closure of the grade crossing at Killian Road and Farrow Road in Richland County, which substantially reduced access to Carolina Chloride’s property.

After filing its Answer, SCDOT moved to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP. Thereafter, Carolina Chloride amended its Complaint and SCDOT filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint. (R. pp. 48, 53). Ultimately, SCDOT’s motion to dismiss was denied. (R. p. 29).

After engaging in discovery, Carolina Chloride filed a motion for summary judgment, contending it suffered a compensable taking as a matter of law and was entitled to just compensation. (R. p. 60, 63-73). After a hearing, the Circuit Court issued an order granting Carolina Chloride’s motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 18).

SCDOT appealed the Circuit Court's Order. On July 21, 2010, pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR, the appeal was certified for review by the South Carolina Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court reversed the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment in favor of Carolina Chloride. See Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't. of Trans., 391 S.C. 429, 706 S.E.2d 501 (2011) (R. p. 12). The Court held, inter alia, that a question of fact remained regarding whether "SCDOT's actions constituted a taking. Specifically, there is a question whether respondent had an easement of access as an abutting landowner to Farrow Road." See id. at 435, 706 S.E.2d at 504 (R. p. 15).

The case was remanded to the Circuit Court. A trial was held on October 20, 21, and 22, 2014, where Appellant and Respondent presented witness testimony and documentary evidence. The Court also viewed the subject property in Richland County on October 22, 2014 to put the premises into evidence.

By order dated January 15, 2016, the Circuit Court held Appellant did not demonstrate the right to construct a drive entrance onto Farrow Road for the reason that its property does not abut Farrow Road. Accordingly, the Circuit Court dismissed Appellant's Complaint. (R. p. 3)

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From November 1996 until November 2006, Carolina Chloride owned a 7.67 acre tract of land located at 600 Killian Road in Richland County (the "Property"). (R. p. 75). Carolina Chloride's use of the property was initially for the storing and distributing of calcium chloride, a chemical used to control dust and ice on road, as well as to treat drinking water. Carolina Chloride later expanded its operations to include commercial storage units, which it rented out to the public. Robert Morgan, former owner and president of Carolina Chloride, invested substantial sums in acquiring the subject property and developing the various operations on it.

The Property is located at the southeastern corner of the intersection of Killian Road and Farrow Road, abutting both roads. (R. p. 77). A railroad track runs parallel to Farrow Road adjacent to the property. (*Id.*). Carolina Chloride enjoyed an easement allowing it access to and from the Property via Killian Road and Farrow Road.

SCDOT entered into an agreement dated July 20, 2004 with Norfolk Southern Railway Company, a Virginia corporation (the "Railroad"), whereby SCDOT would eliminate the grade crossing at Killian Road and Farrow Road (identified as Mile Post R-95.89). The elimination of the grade

crossing was made in exchange for the Railroad paying approximately \$116,000 toward construction (5% of the estimated total of \$2,313,152.80) of an overpass structure further up the railway line (Mile Post R-95.65) near the Town of Killian in Richland County. (R. p. 19).

In January 2006, SCDOT began blocking and did close the access to the Property from Farrow Road. Furthermore, it eliminated access to the Property from the portion of Killian Road west of Farrow Road. As a result of the elimination of the grade crossing, Carolina Chloride lost access to the Property in three of four directions. (R. p. 75). The only remaining way to access the property was via Killian Road west of the intersection with Farrow Road. Specifically, Carolina Chloride no longer had access to Farrow Road by turning left onto Killian Road from the subject property and crossing the Railroad's tracks. Instead, Carolina Chloride was compelled to take a circuitous and lengthier route, by turning right onto Killian Road, then right onto Longtown Road, and travel around the back of the property to the point where Longtown Road intersects Farrow Road.

The purpose of SCDOT's actions was to close the railroad crossing in accordance with the aforementioned agreement with the Railroad. Carolina Chloride contends this closing resulted in the taking of its easement.

Following closure of the railroad grade, Carolina Chloride sold the property for much less than what it was worth due to, inter alia, the lack of direct access to Farrow Road, a main thoroughfare in that part of the county. (R. p. 76).

Carolina Chloride subsequently brought this inverse condemnation action against SCDOT, seeking damages for the taking of the easement. (R. pp. 39, 48). After engaging in discovery, Carolina Chloride moved for summary judgment, arguing the closing of the grade crossing constituted a taking of its property as a matter of law. (R. pp. 60, 63).

The Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of Carolina Chloride. The Circuit Court initially held Hardin v. South Carolina Department of Transportation, 371 S.C. 598, 641 S.E.2d 437 (2007), which was decided after the closing, did not apply to the case at hand, but should have only prospective application because the decision created a new right. According to the Circuit Court, Carolina Chloride suffered a taking under the pre-Hardin special injury test.

In the alternative, the Circuit Court held Carolina Chloride prevailed even if Hardin did apply to the instant case. The Circuit Court reasoned the Property abutted both Killian Road and Farrow Road, and Carolina Chloride,

therefore, possessed an easement for access to both roads. Because the grade closing resulted in Carolina Chloride's inability to access Farrow Road, the Circuit Court held Carolina Chloride suffered a taking of its property as a matter of law. (R. p. 18).

The Supreme Court reversed the Circuit Court. Carolina Chloride v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 391 S.C. 429, 706 S.E.2d 501 (2011) (R. p. 12). As an initial matter, the Circuit Court held that Hardin applies retrospectively because Hardin did not create a "new right or cause of action, but, rather restated the focus in determining whether a road re-configuration amounts to a taking." Id. at 433, 706 S.E.2d at 503 (R. p. 14).

The Court further held that the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Carolina Chloride. The Court noted that there was no question that SCDOT's closing of Killian Road was an affirmative conduct of a government entity. However, the Court held that "there remains a genuine issue of material fact whether SCDOT's action constituted a taking. Specifically, there is a question whether respondent had an easement of access as an abutting landowner to Farrow Road." Id. at 435, 706 S.E.2d at 504 (R. p. 15). The Court concluded: "Because further inquiry into the facts

of this case is desirable to clarify the application of the law, we find summary judgment was not appropriate.” Id. at 436, 706 S.E.2d at 504 (R. p. 15).

On remand, the Court held a three-day hearing on the merits. (R. pp. 93-308). Robert Morgan, former president and owner of Carolina Chloride testified at the hearing. (R. p. 117, line 11). Morgan testified he bought the 7.68 acres near Killian Road. The Property was situated at the corner of Killian Road and Farrow Road. (R. p. 124, lines 5-7). A railroad ran parallel with Farrow Road. (R. p. 124, lines 8-10). Morgan testified of the importance of the railroad to his business, stating that the product used in the processing of calcium chloride was brought to the Property by rail from Louisiana. (R. p. 124, lines 19-25). Morgan testified he had permission to use the rail siding of his property to “transport” the product from the rail cars to the Property. (R. p. 159, lines 9-20).

Morgan testified regarding his substantial improvements to the Property, including clearing big trees and old parts of equipment that was used by another manufacturing company, grading the property, and hauling in dirt, costing nearly \$20,000. He also poured concrete for the tank cars Carolina Chloride stored calcium chloride. Morgan testified estimated his investments in excess of \$200,000. (R. p. 126, line 24 – p. 129, line 6).

Once the product was produced, tractor-trailer tankers, owed by Carolina Chloride, would transport the product to customers. (R. p. 129, line 7 – p. 132, line 8). Most of the product was transported via I-77, and would exit the Property onto Killian Road, turn left, cross the rail crossing and Farrow Road, and continued up on Killian Road to I-77. (R. p. 132, lines 5-20). Morgan admitted there were other avenues to get to I-77 from the Property; however, the alternative route would take 18-wheelers hauling tanks of chemicals through a residential neighborhood. (R. p. 133, line 10 – p. 134, line 13).

Morgan further testified that he used part of the Property as “mini warehouses” or storage units that he rented. (R. p. 131, lines 9-15). Customers of the warehouse business would access the warehouses by coming “down Farrow Road and cross – turn left on Killian Road and then turn right into Carolina Chloride and go to the warehouses just inside.” (R. p. 135, lines 8-11). Therefore, the access from Farrow Road was essential to Carolina Chloride’s warehouse business. (R. p. 135, lines 12-16).

Morgan testified that upon learning of a prospect for the rail grade at Killian Road to be close, he met with Brian Keys, an official at the Department of Transportation, where Morgan expressed his concerns about

the Killian Road closing. (R. p. 137, line 15 – p. 138, line 22). At the time, there was no mention by Keys regarding an agreement of a private encroachment in order to continue accessing Farrow Road to Killian Road. (R. p. 138, line 23 – p. 139, line 4).

In early 2006, SCDOT closed the railroad grade, putting up barricades and tearing the timbers out against the rails. (R. p. 146, lines 7-19). Morgan was never provided any written notice of SCDOT's closure of the road, nor was any compensation provided in related to SCDOT's activities in conjunction with Carolina Chloride. (R. p. 146, line 20 – p. 147, line 1; p. 150, lines 3-14).

Almost immediately upon the railroad closing, fifty percent (50%) of the renters of the warehouse units moved out. (R. p. 150, lines 15-24). Eventually, Carolina Chloride, due to lost profits, sold the business for an estimated \$400,000. (R. p. 151, lines 4-21). Morgan had a previous offer, prior to the railroad closing/Farrow Road closing, for \$1,100,000. (R. p. 155, lines 7-24).

On cross-examination, counsel for SCDOT presented a plat reflecting the Property when Carolina Chloride purchased the property. Counsel for SCDOT differentiated Morgan's testimony regarding the right to use the rail

siding, but not that Carolina Chloride owned the land. (R. p. 173, lines 11-13). Counsel for SCDOT alleged that the statute from 1846, allowing the Railroad to take land in fee simple controlled. (R. p. 178, lines 22 – p. 179, line 3). Counsel for Carolina Chloride concurred that the technical property line for the Property at Killian and Farrow Road did not include the railway. However, whether the Railroad actually owns the property in fee simply is not dispositive of the case, because Carolina Chloride abutted Farrow Road. (R. p. 177, line 17 – p. 178, line 8; p. 182, lines 1-5).

Morgan clarified that the right to the railroad siding that lies on the Railroad property, was by agreement. (R. p. 188, lines 4-13).

Also testifying at trial was Billy Way, Jr., a commercial real estate agent in Columbia. (R. p. 190, lines 4-23). Way was qualified as an expert in commercial real estate brokerage in Richland County. (R. p. 191, lines 4-11). Way testified that it was his opinion that the closing of the Killian Road access affected the value of the property. He testified that access and convenience are factors that are used in valuating a property, and that sellers and buyers use this factor in their valuation, as well. (R. p. 194, line 6 – p. 195, line 22). Way clarified that the loss of value was a result of the

diversion of traffic to another access point of the property due to the closure of the Killian Road access. (R. p. 197, lines 21-23).

Brian Keys, director of Rights of Way for the South Carolina Department of Transportation testified that he participated in the projected involving the widening and location of Clemson Road from US Route 1 to I-77. (R. p. 205, line 16 – p. 208, line 7). The project was split into two parts. (R. p. 209, line 8-9). The second phase of the project occurred in January 2006. (R. p. 210, lines 4-13). During this phase, Keys was program manager and was responsible for the project from its inception through its construction, including the budget and timeframes. (R. p. 210, lines 14-20). Keys confirmed that SCDOT and the Railway had a written contract for purposes of constructing an overpass on Clemson Road where the railway runs underneath the overpass. (R. p. 213, line 13 – p. 214, line 7). Keys testified that the project was estimated at \$2.3 million, \$115,000 of which was contributed by the Railway. (R. p. 215, lines 11-15).

Keys recalled that the intersection of Killian Road and Farrow Road, specifically the rail grade, was closed to facilitate the construction of the overpass at Clemson Road at the request of the Railway, though Keys did not

know why the Railroad petitioned for the rail grade to be closed. (R. p. 215, line 16 – p. 216, line 10).

Keys testified there were plans for a high speed railway between Columbia and Charlotte, North Carolina since the early 2000s and that these plans may have precipitated the rail grade closing. (R. p. 219, line 19 – p. 220, line 16). Keys further testified that there were safety concerns of the rail crossing at Killian Road and Farrow Road and noted that an individual was killed at the location in 1989. (R. p. 221, lines 3-20).

Keys did not recall meeting with Morgan regarding his property and the subject closing rail grade, though he admitted the same during his deposition. Keys admitted a second rail crossing at Longstown Road remained opened and operating during the time period that the subject rail grade was closed (at the intersection of Killian Road and Farrow Road). (R. p. 226, line 17 – p. 228, line 10). When asked why the railroad crossed at Longstown Road remained open, while the crossing at Killian Road was closed, Keys testified the Railroad was essentially calling the shots. (R. p. 228, lines 3-14).

Keys disputed that Carolina Chloride's property abutted Farrow Road. (R. p. 228, line 15-17). However, Keys agreed that a property owner would

have an easement to any public highway that the property abuts. (R. p. 229, lines 20-25).

Keys testified SCDOT had a number of public hearings regarding the subject project, though Keys could not confirm that Morgan received notices of the public hearings personally. (R. p. 230, line 16 – p. 231, line 3).

There were right-of-ways affected by virtue of the alterations done to Farrow Road and the landowners received notice of the alterations from the Right-of-Way Office. (R. p. 231, lines 16-22). Keys was not aware of any notice Morgan received from SCDOT regarding the closure of the railroad crossing at Killian Road. (R. p. 231, line 23 – p. 232, line 14).

The Railroad was responsible for removing the crossing; SCDOT removed anything up to the right-of-way. (R. p. 232, line 18 – p. 234, line 3). Keys believed that a railroad can unilaterally tear up tracks and create a break in the road regardless of any permission granted by the highway department who owns the adjoining roads. (R. p. 234, line 4-22). However, Keys confirmed that in this instance, there was a bilateral agreement between the Railroad and SCDOT. (R. p. 234, lines 1-16). Keys agreed that the concurrence of the Railroads petition to remove the rail crossing was affirmative conduct of the government. (R. p. 235, lines 18-23).

Keys testified that according to statute, he did not take it upon himself or SCDOT, unilaterally, to close the rail grade crossings, nor did SCDOT have any role in building a high-speed rail line. (R. p. 238, line 8 - p. 240, line 16). Keys acknowledged SCDOT's right-of-way provided by agreement with the Railroad. (R. p. 242, line 20 - p. 244, line 2). Keys testified that to his knowledge, the agreement represented SCDOT's only interest in the crossing at Killian Road and Farrow Road. (R. p. 244, lines 3-6).

Keys testified that the state typically acquires land for highways by purchasing the land in fee simple interest. (R. p. 260, lines 1-4). With regard to the subject land, the state had taken fee simple interest and not just right-of-way since the 1990s. (R. p. 260, lines 5-9). Keys testified it was his understanding that the agreement between the Railway and state was not an easement or fee simple acquisition, but rather was permission, and that the Railway did not purchase title because it was an active railroad. (R. p. 260, line 10 - p. 261, line 13).

Keys did not recall whether he told Morgan that his property interest ran to Farrow Road in the way of an easement or a right-of-way. (R. p. 264, lines 2-5).

On questioning by the Court, Keys agreed that the definition of “abut” means the sharing a common boundary. Keys opined that Carolina Chloride’s property did not abut Farrow Road because the Railroad has title property in between Farrow Road and Carolina Chloride. (R. p. 281, lines 8-13).

The Circuit Court held that Carolina Chloride’s property did not abut or share a common boundary with the right-of-way of Farrow Road and, therefore, it had no right to a drive entrance onto that road which can be taken by SCDOT. (R. pp. 6-7). The Circuit Court further found Carolina Chloride failed to exhaust its administrative remedies. (R. p. 7). The Court also noted that testimony was presented that SCDOT would have no object to permitting a drive entrance onto Farrow Road to Carolina Chloride. (R. pp. 7-8).

In its Motion to Reconsider, Carolina Chloride contended the Circuit Court overlooked or misapprehended the true aegis of the term “abut,” as it has been defined and implemented by our appellate entities. Stated succinctly, Plaintiff maintains its property abutted Farrow Road and possessed the right of ingress or egress, which was terminated by the closure of the railroad crossing at the intersection of Killian and Farrow Roads. (R. p. 89). Carolina Chloride further alleged it utilized the administrative process

to not avoid. It was not until shortly before trial that the Department advised Carolina Chloride that it had no objection to opening a private drive at the subject location for Carolina Chloride to utilize. (R. p. 90).

The Circuit Court denied Carolina Chloride's Motion to Reconsider, stating that it found no reasons to reverse its decision based on "undisputed evidence that it does not abut." (R. p. 1-2). The Circuit Court further stated that SCDOT has no object to permit a drive entrance to the subject property. (Id.). The Circuit Court found SCDOT was never given an opportunity to find an engineering solution among the parties and the Railroad prior to the sale of the property. Accordingly, the Circuit Court denied Carolina Chloride's petition. (Id.)

On July 8, 2016, Carolina Chloride filed its Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 311).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court's scope of review of a trial court's findings in a case tried without a jury extends merely to the correction of errors of law. Moseley v. All Things Possible, Inc., 395 S.C. 492, 719 S.E.2d 656 (2011). In an action tried by the Circuit Court, without a jury, the judge's findings of fact have the same force and effect as a verdict of a jury and will not be reversed upon appeal unless the circuit court committed some error of law leading to an erroneous conclusion or unless the evidence is reasonably susceptible of the opposite conclusion only. Columbia Venture, LLC v. Richland County, 413 S.C.423, 776 SE.2d 900 (2015). Stated succinctly, findings of fact by a trial judge will not be disturbed on appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonable supports them. Horry Telephone Co-op., Inc. v. City of Georgetown, 408 S.C. 348, 759 S.E.2d 132 (2014).

LAW/ANALYSIS

I. Carolina Chloride's Property Abutted Farrow Road

The Circuit Court erred in finding that Carolina Chloride's property did not abut Farrow Road and, therefore, there was not taking by SCDOT. Carolina Chloride avers the Circuit Court overlooked or misapprehending the term "abut" as it has been defined and implemented by our appellate entities.

In Hardin v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 371 S.C. 598, 641 S.E.2d 437 (2007), the Supreme Court enunciated, inter alia, that a property owner in South Carolina has an easement for reasonable access to and from any public road that abuts his property, regardless whether he has additional access to and from another public road. Id., at 606, 641 S.E.2d at 442. At issue in the instant case, therefore, is whether Carolina Chloride's property abuts Farrow Road.

Our appellate courts have defined "abut" to mean "to be contiguous, or border on; to bound upon; to end, end at, or terminate, to join at a border or boundary; to meet; to touch at the end or side." Mosteller v. Cnty. of Lexington, 336 S.C. 360, 365, 520 S.E.2d 620, 623 (1999) (quoting 1 C.J.S. at 397 (1985)). **However, our courts have also held "abut" does not always mean there must be actual contact.** See id. For example, property may still be deemed to abut a road when there is some intervening, natural barrier like a stream or river. Id. (citing Anderson v. Town of Albemarle, 182 N.C. 434, 109 S.E. 262 (1921)).

Admittedly, our courts appear not to have reached a determination of whether an intervening man-made barrier like a railroad bed in a similar

takings dispute; however, Carolina Chloride asserts a railroad bed is analogous to the steam or a river example referred to in Mosteller.

Further, there have been holdings by our appellate entities in analogous disputes involving annexation, which have held that man-made conditions, such as roadways, do not destroy contiguousness and thus aid in the Court's disposition in the case at bar. See, e.g., St. Andrews Pub. Serv. Dist. V. City Council of City of Charleston, 339 S.C. 320, 529 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App. 2002), rev'd on other grounds by 342 S.C. 602, 564 S.E.2d 647 (2002); see also Eldridge v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 384 S.C. 548, 552-53, 683 S.E.2d 483, 485 (2009);¹ Sonoco v. South Carolina Dept. of Rev., 378 S.C. 385, 662 S.E.2d 599 (2008).

¹ At issue in Eldridge v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 384 S.C. 548, 683 S.E.2d 483 (2009), was whether "on premises" signs for private businesses on a median on a public highway running through the town of Greenwood were actually "on premises." The median was situated upon an abandoned railroad right-of-way. A county ordinance defining "on premises" signs was interpreted by a special referee to be to be located on the actual property where the business is located. The Department of Transportation also concluded that such signs were not in fact "on premises" because they were not contiguous with, adjacent to, or adjoining the businesses on either side of the road the signs were advertising and thus there would be no taking if the signs were taken down. The Supreme Court, applying, inter alia, its holding in Sonoco v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 378 S.C. 385, 662 S.E.2d 599 (2008), held these signs were in fact "on premises" notwithstanding the physical separation between the subject businesses and

their signs due to the intervening state-owned highway. The Eldridge Court held contiguousness is to be broadly interpreted and that an intervening land owner does not necessarily destroy contiguousness in South Carolina.

[T]his Court [has] acknowledged that the term “contiguous” has been broadly interpreted. Sonoco v. SC Dep’t of Revenue, 378 S.C. 385, 662 S.E.2d 599 (2008), citing Kizer v. Clark, 360 S.C. 86, 90–91, 600 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2004) (recognizing that marshlands and creeks do not defeat town’s contiguity for annexation purposes); Mosteller v. County of Lexington, 336 S.C. 360, 364–65, 520 S.E.2d 620, 623 (1999) (explaining the term “contiguous” and stating “ ‘[a]but’ means to be contiguous ... [h]owever, abut does not always mean there must be actual contact”).

In Sonoco, we went further and distinguished between “contiguous” in a lay or secondary sense, versus in legal contemplation, stating, “In the legal field, it has been defined as: ‘[i]n close proximity; neighboring; adjoining; near in succession; in actual close contact; touching at a point or along a boundary; bounded by or traversed by.’ Black’s Law Dictionary 290 (5th ed.1979).” 378 S.C. at 391, 662 S.E.2d at 602. Significantly, S.C. Code Ann. § 5–3–305 is also cited in Sonoco; it states, in part:

For purposes of this chapter, “contiguous” means property which is adjacent to a municipality and shares a continuous border. Contiguity is not established by a road, waterway, right-of-way, easement, railroad track, marshland, or utility line which connects one property to another; however, if the connecting road, waterway, easement, railroad track, marshland, or utility line intervenes between two properties, which but for the intervening connector would be adjacent and share a continuous

In St. Andrews Public Service District, a public service district brought a declaratory judgment action, challenging city of Charleston ordinances that annexed property into the city. An issue extant in the dispute was whether the annexation ordinances were unauthorized by law because the properties annexed were not contiguous to the city's existing boundaries. Specifically,

border, the intervening connector does not destroy contiguity.

In *Sonoco*, we ultimately held a taxpayer's office buildings were subject to property tax because the public road and railroad tracks did not defeat contiguity of the plant and office buildings. We find the issue presented here is squarely controlled by our opinion in Sonoco; we find the contiguity requirement is met here such that for purposes of the applicable ordinance, the signs may be considered "on premises."

Further support for this result is found in the definition of "adjacent." Black's Law Dictionary, 38 (5th Ed.1979) defines it adjacent as "lying near or close to; sometimes, contiguous, neighboring. Adjacent implies that the two objects are not widely separated, though they may not actually touch."

We find the Court of Appeals and Referee unduly restricted the definition of "on premises." Given the liberal construction afforded the definition of "contiguity" in Sonoco, we find the Property between the Road's separation by the roadway does not defeat contiguity, such that the signs may be considered "on premises" for purposes of the ordinance. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals opinion is reversed, and the case is remanded to the Referee for calculation of damages.

Id. at 552-53, 683 S.E.2d at 485 (emphasis added).

the public service district alleged the city illegally annexed roads to achieve contiguity to properties that were not otherwise contiguous to the city. In its analysis, the Court stated:

Courts have generally held that contiguous is synonymous with the terms “adjacent to” or “adjoining.” Erwin S. Barbre, Annotation, What Land is Contiguous or Adjacent to Municipality so as to be Subject to Annexation, 49 A.L.R.3d 589, 599 (1973). Our Supreme Court explained, “The statutory word ‘contiguous’ must be afforded its ordinary meaning of ‘touching.’ Bryant v. City of Charleston, 295 S.C. 408, 410, 368 S.E.2d 899, 901 (1988). To achieve contiguity, **actual physical touching of the properties is not required**. The Supreme Court has rejected an argument that the annexed parcels must have the additional qualifications of unity, substantial physical touching, or a common boundary.

Id. at 324-25, 529 S.E.2d at 66 (Ct. App. 2000).

The St. Andrews Public Service District Court held there was no contiguity:

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