THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case Number 2016-001440

Carolina Chloride, Inc.Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of TransportationRespondent.

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Beacham O. Brooker, Jr., S.C. Bar #909
754 Kilbourne Rd.
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 771-9096
B_brooker@bellsouth.net

Attorney for Respondent

November 17, 2016

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly held that Appellant's land did not physically abut Farrow Road thus had no pre-existing right to access that road from its property.

In its first argument, Appellant discusses a number of cases in the municipal annexation, real property tax, and regulatory law areas as precedents for its contention that its property actually abuts Farrow Road as a matter of law. As the trial court stated, these cases are not relevant to the instant case that involves actual physical access between a parcel of land and a highway. R.p. ___.

Initially, we should respond to Appellant's argument that our Supreme Court's opinion in Mosteller v. County of Lexington, 336 S.C. 360, 365, 520 S.E.2d 620, 623 (1999), supports its contention that it is an abutting landowner. This is incorrect for a number of reasons. First, we believe that the Court's statement in Mosteller that a landowner may be considered an abutting owner where its land is separated only by a stream or river is a mere reference to the common law of South Carolina regarding the ownership of lands beneath non-tidal rivers and streams. South Carolina has never rejected the English rule that a riparian owner's title extends to the centerline of freshwater rivers or streams. State v. Sloan Construction Co., 284 S.C. 491, 328 S.E.2d 84 Ct.App. 1985), cert. denied (S.C. Aug. 12, 1985); Wyche and Finklea, Environmental Law in South Carolina (S.C. Bar 1999), page 235. Secondly, the Court in Mosteller cited a North Carolina case, Anderson v. Town of Albemarle, 182 N.C. 434, 109 S.E. 262 (1921), as authority for the above statement. In Anderson, the North Carolina Supreme Court stated the following:

By the term "abutting property" is meant that between which and the improvement there is no intervening land. Millan v. Chariton, 145 Iowa, 648, 124 N.W. 766.

* * *

Indeed, premises separated from a street by a small stream, but having access to the street by means of bridges, are premises abutting on the street, though the owner of the premises is not the owner of the bed of the stream, and he is liable to assessment provided he has the right of ingress and egress over the intervening land to the improvement.

Id., 109 S.E. 264.

Thus, Mosteller does not support Appellant's contention that its land abuts Farrow Road, that the Court may disregard fee simple ownership of intervening land owned by a third party, nor sanction trespass.

Next, Appellant cites cases involving municipal annexation in support of its argument that findings of contiguousness under those laws equals abutting for present purposes. Those cases are simply inapt to the law governing this case. The General Assembly, which created municipalities in the first place, may prescribe any rules it wishes for expansion of municipal boundaries including the authority to ignore intervening roads, railroads, or even private land. The statutes and cases do not alter fundamental common law regarding titles to land in this State.

Sonoco v. S.C. Department of Revenue, 378 S.C. 385, 662 S.E.2d 599 (2008), was a property tax case where the Court held that railroad tracks bisecting property of the same landowner on either side of the tracks did not divide the land into two tracts so that it may be considered a single parcel for tax assessment. This is common real property law. Where a landowner owns the fee estate on each side of railroad tracks and underneath the tracks, the tracks are a mere easement for a particular use and an encumbrance on the underlying land. It does not apply here where the railroad tracks are situated on land owned in fee simple by another person, the railroad.

The unique case history of Eldridge v. South Carolina Dep't of Transportation, 384 S.C. 548, 683 S.E.2d 483 (2009), distinguishes that case from the facts at bar. That case is not contra to the legal principles discussed in the foregoing paragraph. There, as noted in the dissent, a trial judge at one point during the lengthy proceedings had declared that, because the highway lying between plaintiff's larger parcel of land and the area across the road where plaintiff maintained a sign had become vested in the highway department through more than 20 year use as a public road,¹ the State and not plaintiff

¹ We believe this holding to be incorrect. Twenty year use as a public road would only establish a prescriptive easement for use as a public highway. It would not divest the underlying fee owner of its title

owned that strip of property. The majority in that decision did not appear to accept that ruling nor consider it the law of the case. Instead, it decided the case under the principles we discussed above that an easement in another for a use encumbering underlying land does not divide that land. Further, we would note as did the trial court that Eldridge and other cases cited by Appellant define contiguity for administrative purposes such as defining on-premises for outdoor advertising, tax parcels, and the like. Here, Appellant argues that it is entitled to physically cross the land of the Norfolk Southern, asking the Court to divest that landowner of part of its domain.

Finally, we should note that all of the foregoing discussion concerns abutting Farrow Road in the area defined by extending the north and south boundaries of Appellant's property to the edge of that highway's right-of-way. There has been no proof by Appellant that its land shared a boundary with the rectangle that contained the Killian Road crossing of the Norfolk Southern land. At most, Appellant's land touched it at a corner, but it had no right to enter it directly as an abutting owner. Thus, Appellant had no rights to the closed section differing from any other member of the travelling public. The Supreme Court in a similar case, Cherry v. Rock Hill, 48 S.C. 553, 26 S.E. 798 (1897), said

But we do not think that the alteration made in this street at a point where it did not adjoin plaintiff's property can be regarded as the taking of private property for public use. So far as appears from the allegations of the complaint, the only right which the plaintiff had in the street in question was the right to which, in common with all other citizens, he was entitled, of using this street as a public highway. That right is not, in our judgment, private property, protected by the constitution.

nor vest the State with fee ownership. State v. Hughes, 145 S.E.297 (1928). As was held in City of Greenville v. Bozeman, 254 S.C. 306, 317-28, 175 S.E.2d 211, 216 (1970), vacation and abandonment of a public street vests absolute possession and title in the abutting property owners to the centerline and not to the original owner.

Id., 26 S.E.801.

II. Appellant's claim is barred by its failure to give Respondent the opportunity to cure the alleged taking.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §57-5-1080 (Rev. 2006), a landowner must obtain a permit from the Department of Transportation prior to opening a drive entrance onto a State primary highway. Those permits are granted where the owner proposes an entrance at a "safe and suitable point as determined by engineering principles." Act 621, 1956 S.C. Acts 1594. Appellant has never applied for a permit.

The general rule "that administrative remedies must be exhausted absent circumstances supporting an exception to the rule" is well established in South Carolina. Hyde v. S.C. Dept. of Mental Health, 314 S.C. 207, 208, 442 S.E.2d 582, 583 (1994). At its core, the doctrine of exhaustion serves two main purposes: (1) the protection of administrative agency authority; and (2) the promotion of efficiency. Woodford v. Ngo, 548 U.S. 81, 89, 126 S.Ct. 2378, 165 L.Ed.2d 368 (2006). An administrative agency's authority is protected by exhaustion because it gives the agency "an opportunity to correct its own mistakes with respect to the programs it administers before it is haled into ... court, and discourages disregard of the agency's procedures." Id. (internal quotation omitted). Efficiency is promoted by the exhaustion doctrine because claims generally can be resolved more rapidly and economically by agency hearings and procedures than by litigation in court. Id. Moreover, "even where a controversy survives administrative review, exhaustion of the administrative procedure may produce a useful record for subsequent judicial consideration." Id.